INFORMAL NOTES ON HYPERKÄHLER GEOMETRY

JOÃO ESTEVES, JOSÉ M. MOURÃO, JOÃO P. NUNES AND ROSA SENA-DIAS

ABSTRACT. Informal notes prepared for the CAMGSD working seminar on Symplectic/Contact Geometry/Topology.

February 17, 2012

Contents

1. Lecture: Introduction - JM	2
1.1. Introduction - motivational	2
1.2. Introduction - technical	5
2. Lecture: Hypertoric varieties - RSD	10
2.1. Preliminaries	10
2.2. Construction of hypertoric manifolds	11
2.3. Hyperplane arrangements	12
3. Lecture: Hypertoric manifolds from polytopes - RSD	13
3.1. The Kähler potential in moment map coordinates	14
4. Lecture: Nahm equations and hyperkähler manifolds - JPN	16
5. Lecture: Mirror symmetry for hyperkähler manifolds - JM	17
6. Lecture: Gukov-Witten quantization - JE	18
References	19

1. Lecture: Introduction - JM

Refs: [HKLR, Kr1, Kr2, Ve1, Fe1, Fe2, HT, GHJ, Pr1, Pr3, GW, Ve2, Wi1, Go, GM]

Background reading: Symplectic reduction and Kähler geometry [Ca1, Ca2]

1.1. **Introduction - motivational.** As mentioned in the abstract this is an informal set of notes (in progress) prepared for the CAMGSD working seminar on Symplectic/Contact Geometry/Topology. We are all using this opportunity to learn more about the subject. Corrections/comments/suggestions are very much welcome.

A hyperkähler (HK) manifold is a (real) 4n-dimensional Riemannian manifold with three **parallel**, **orthogonal** (which we call compatible with the metric) complex structures I, J, K^1 , satisfying the quaternionic relations

$$I^2 = J^2 = K^2 = IJK = -1,$$

or, in other words, it is a quintuple (M, γ, I, J, K) . Recall that a Riemannian manifold is called Kähler if there is one (parallel & orthogonal) complex structure, (M, γ, I) . A metric and a compatible complex structure define a symplectic structure (called Kähler form) so that a HK manifold has three symplectic structures, $\omega_1(\cdot,\cdot)=\gamma(I\cdot,\cdot),\ \omega_2(\cdot,\cdot)=\gamma(J\cdot,\cdot),\ \omega_3(\cdot,\cdot)=\gamma(K\cdot,\cdot),$ which are (non-degenerate closed) two-forms of type (1,1) for the corresponding complex structure. Hyperkähler metrics are however much more rigid than Kähler structures [Hi4]. By adding $\partial \partial f$, for a sufficiently small $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$, to a Kähler form we obtain a new Kähler form, which shows that the space Kähler metrics is infinite dimensional. Moreover it is easy to obtain examples of Kähler manifolds. Any complex submanifold of complex projective space has an induced Kähler structure. On the other hand is much more difficult to find examples of HK manifolds and even if one finds an HK metric on a compact manifold, than one can show that there is, up to isometry, only a finite dimensional space of HK metrics. An efficient way of constructing HK manifolds consists in using holomorphic symplectic reduction, which we will discuss below in section 1.2.3 and in Lecture 2.

1.1.1. Why would a differential/symplectic/algebraic geometer care?

There are many reasons for a geometer to care about HK manifolds. Let us comment briefly on some of them.

1.1.1.a) Interesting manifolds/varieties.

Many interesting manifolds and algebraic varieties have HK structure [Hi4, Kr3]:

- (i) Resolutions of rational surface singularities and links with the McKay correspondence.
- (ii) Cotangent bundles and coadjoint orbits of complex Lie groups.

¹in fact these complex structures lead to a two-dimensional sphere of parallel complex structures, aI + bJ + cK, $a, b, c \in \mathbb{R}$: $a^2 + b^2 + c^2 = 1$

- (iii) Spaces of representations of a Riemann surface group in a complex Lie group (related to point 1.1.1.d) below).
- (iv) Space of based rational maps $f: \mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{C}) \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{C})$ of degree k.
- (v) The space of based loops in a complex Lie group.

1.1.1.b) Moduli spaces.

Many interesting moduli spaces in geometry have hyperkähler structure and the properties of their metrics are important. For instance, non-abelian magnetic monopole moduli spaces are hyperkähler and their geodesics describe (low energy) monopole scattering [AH]. Several of these moduli spaces arise as moduli spaces of solutions of nonlinear partial differential equations related to the self-dual Yang-Mills equations. This bridges hyperkähler geometry to the world of integrable systems and soliton equations.

1.1.1.c) Mirror symmetry.

HK manifolds can be considered as special cases of Calabi–Yau (CY) manifolds (see section 1.2.1) and therefore they have trivial canonical bundle and the HK metrics are always Ricci flat. As we will see in the Lecture 5, for them the mirror map has (if they are smooth and compact) an important simplification: the mirrors are diffeomorphic to each other. They are very useful to test mirror symmetry in simpler cases. Examples are even (over \mathbb{C}) dimensional complex torii and K3 surfaces.

A manifestation of this (relative) simplicity concerns special lagrangian fibrations. In the Strominger, Yau and Zaslow (SYZ) formulation [GHJ] of mirror symmetry it is conjectured that if X and \check{X} are a pair of mirror CY manifolds, then X should have a special Lagrangian (or SpLag) fibration (see section 1.2.2), $f:X\longrightarrow B$ (with some singular fibers), such that the mirror \check{X} would be equal to an appropriate compactification of the dualizing fibration. If proved true, this conjecture would give a much wanted geometric understanding of mirror symmetry. What happens for HK manifolds is that a fibration is SpLag with respect, say, to the complex structure K if and only if is holomorphic Lagrangian with respect to $(I, \omega_J + i\omega_K)$, so that in the HK context, finding SpLag fibrations is equivalent to finding holomorphic Lagrangian fibrations. This turned out to be much simpler than finding SpLag fibrations and holomorphic Lagrangian fibrations in HK manifolds give in fact, to date, the only nontrivial known SpLag fibrations in compact CY manifolds.

1.1.1.d) Mirror symmetry, Hitchin's equations, and Langlands duality.

The title of this point coincides with the title of Witten's paper [Wi1]. Witten and coauthors interpret the geometric Langlands duality as a particular instance of the mirror symmetry mentioned in the previous point,

for a pair of HK manifolds

$$X = \mathcal{M}(^{L}G, C) \longrightarrow B$$

$$\check{X} = \mathcal{M}(G, C) \longrightarrow B,$$
(1)

where $\mathcal{M}(G,C)$ denotes the moduli space of solutions of the Hitchin equations on the Riemann surface C with gauge group G (or equivalently the moduli space of $G_{\mathbb{C}}$ -Higgs bundles on C [Go]) and LG denotes the Langlands dual of the group G. These moduli spaces have known holomorphic Lagrangian fibrations, the Hitchin fibrations. For the pair of compact Lie groups G and LG , these fibrations have the same base and are dual to each other, making them an instance of SYZ mirror symmetry. The relation of the pairs of HK varieties (1) with mirror symmetry and with the geometric Langlands correpondence appeared before [KW] in eg [HT]. The novelty of [KW] for the geometric Langlands correspondence was to identify the quantum field theory (QFT) behind this correspondence. Besides giving a new perspective into the correspondence, this QFT interpretation leads to a significative extension of the correspondence. It is amazing that the physical theory involved is a close relative of the theory behind the 1994 revolution in four-manifold geometry: Seiberg-Witten theory. In the later case N=2 super-Yang-Mills theory with group G in the (real four-)manifold M leads to the definition of Seiberg-Witten invariants of M and to their relation with the G-Donaldson invariants of M [Ig]. In the former case geometric Langlands correspondence for the Riemann surface C is "derived" from the (more rigid) N=4 super-Yang-Mills theory with group G in the (real four-)manifold $M = \mathbb{R}^2 \times C$ (see [KW], specially Sect. 4). As Kapustin and Witten phrase in their paper:

Our focus in the present paper is on the geometric Langlands program for complex Riemann surfaces. We aim to show how this program can be understood as a chapter in quantum field theory.

We will expand a bit on some on these things in Lectures 4 and 5.

1.1.2. Why would a "quantum" geometer care? Motivated again by results in supersymmetric Yang-Mills theories, Gukov and Witten [GW, Wi2] proposed a new approach to the quantization of a symplectic manifold X. They suggest that the quantization of X can be reformulated in terms of a 2d conformal field theory (CFT): The A sigma model with target a complexification Y of X. Then, they argue that the conditions for this theory to have a good A model are equivalent to Y having a complete HK metric. Furthermore, if Y is an affine variety than they claim in the p.4 of [GW]:

Interestingly, the conditions under which deformation quantization of an affine variety gives an actual deformation of the ring of functions on Y are very similar

to the conditions for Y to admit a complete hyperkähler metric along the lines of the complete Calabi-Yau metrics constructed in [4].

We will expand on this in Lecture 6.

1.2. Introduction - technical.

1.2.1. **Special holonomy.** We start with some classification results. Let (X, γ) be a Riemannian manifold (X, γ) and $x \in X$. For every loop $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}_x(X)$ based at x, denote by φ_{α} the holonomy along $\alpha, \varphi_{\alpha} \in O(T_xX)$. The holonomy group, $H_{\gamma} = \{\varphi_{\alpha}, \alpha \in \mathcal{L}_x(X)\}$, acts on T_xX , $H_{\gamma} \subset O(T_xX)$, and the Riemannian manifold (X, γ) , is called irreducible if the holonomy representation is irreducible.

Theorem 1.1 (De Rham). A compact simply connected Riemannian manifold is metrically a product of irreducible Riemannian manifolds.

The full list of compact, simply connected, irreducible Riemannian manifolds is remarkably simple and given by Berger's theorem.

Theorem 1.2. [Berger] Let (X, γ) be an irreducible, compact, simply connected Riemannian manifold, which is not a symmetric space. Then, the holonomy group H_{γ} of (X, γ) is one of the following groups:

H_{γ}	$\dim_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$	Type
SO(n)	n	general Riemannian
U(m)	2m	Kähler
SU(m)	2m	Calabi-Yau
$Sp(k) \cdot Sp(1)$	4k	Quaternion–Kähler
Sp(k)	4k	hyperkähler
G_2	7	G_2 -manifold
Spin(7)	8	Spin(7)-manifold

Fact. Irreducible manifolds have the additional structure making them of the type indicated in the 3d column of the table above. So, in particular, for a irreducible Sp(k)-manifold (X, γ) , there exist 3 orthogonal, parallel complex structures, I, J, K, satisfying the quanternionic relations and making the quintuple, (X, γ, I, J, K) a HK manifold. On the other hand, for an irreducible real 4k-dimensional H-manifold (X, γ) , with $H \subset SU(2k)$ (as is the case of HK manifolds as $Sp(k) \subset SU(2k)$), the metric is Ricci-flat and the canonical bundle of a Kähler triple (X, γ, I) is trivial.

1.2.2. **Hyperkähler SYZ conjecture.** The main reference in this section is [Ve2]. Let (X, γ, I, J, K) be a HK manifold and $\omega_1, \omega_2, \omega_3$ be the corresponding symplectic forms. The following simple result is very important.

Proposition 1.3. The (non-degenerate closed) 2-form $\omega_{\mathbb{C}} = \omega_2 + i\omega_3$ is I-holomorphic.

Proof. Let us first show that $\omega_{\mathbb{C}}(IY, Z) = i\omega_{\mathbb{C}}(Y, Z)$, for all vector fields $Y, Z \in \Gamma(TX^{\mathbb{C}})$.

$$\omega_{\mathbb{C}}(IY,Z) = \omega_2(IY,Z) + i\omega_3(IY,Z) = \gamma(JIY,Z) + i\gamma(KIY,Z) = = -\omega_3(Y,Z) + i\omega_2(Y,Z) = i\omega_{\mathbb{C}}(Y,Z).$$

Since for $Y \in \Gamma(T_I^{(0,1)}X)$, IY = -iY, we conclude that $\omega_{\mathbb{C}} \in \Omega^{(2,0)}(X)$. Being closed implies that $\overline{\partial}_I \omega_{\mathbb{C}} = 0$ and therefore $\omega_{\mathbb{C}}$ is I-holomorphic.

Thus a HK manifold is holomorphic symplectic. Conversely, from the Calabi-Yau theorem one concludes:

Theorem 1.4. A compact, Kähler, holomorphically symplectic manifold admits a unique HK metric in the cohomology class of its Kähler metric.

Definition 1.5. Let (X, ω) be a Calabi-Yau (CY) manifold with holomorphic volume form Ω . A real submanifold $Z \subset X$ is called special Lagrangian (SpLag) if $\Re \Omega|_Z$ is proportional to the Riemannian volume form.

As mentioned in section 1.1.1.c SpLag fibrations of CY manifolds play a crucial role in mirror symmetry. The following simple fact is then very important.

Proposition 1.6. An I-holomorphic $\omega_{\mathbb{C}}$ -Lagrangian subvariety of a HK manifold X is J-SpLag.

Definition 1.7. A compact HK manifold X is called simple if $H^1(X) = 0$ and $H^{(2,0)}(X) \cong \mathbb{C}$.

Then, from Theorem 1.2 and Theorem 1.4 one obtains the Bogomolov decomposition of a compact HK manifold.

Theorem 1.8. A compact HK manifold X admits a finite covering which is a product of a torus with several simple HK manifolds.

The following amazing theorem is crucial.

Theorem 1.9 (Matsushita, 1997). Let X be a simple HK manifold and π : $X \longrightarrow B$ be a surjective, holomorphic map, with $0 < \dim(B) < \dim(X)$. Then $\dim B = \frac{1}{2} \dim X$ and the fibers of π are holomorphic Lagrangian.

We see then that proving the existence of a SpLag fibration on a simple HK manifold X is reduced to proving the existence of a surjective holomorphic map such that the image has dimension smaller than that of X.

This leads to the HK SYZ conjecture or Huybrechts-Sawon conjecture:

Conjecture 1.10. Let X be a compact HK manifold. Then X can be deformed to a HK manifold admitting a holomorphic Lagrangian fibration.

Holomorphic line bundles with base-point free linear systems on a variety X are in bijective correspondence with holomorphic maps from X to projective space.

The line bundle $L \longrightarrow X$ is ample if and only if its first Chern class is in the Kähler cone. Of particular interest to the HK SYZ conjecture 1.10 are *nef* line bundles, which are those for which the first Chern class is in the closure of the Kähler cone.

Also the target of recent works is the following Beauville conjecture [GLR1]:

Conjecture 1.11. Let X be a compact simply connected HK manifold and L a Lagrangian submanifold biholomorphic to a complex torus. Then L is a fiber of a meromorphic Lagrangian fibration, $f: X \longrightarrow B$.

If true, this would simplify even further the task of proving the existence of SpLag fibration in a HK manifold: it would be sufficient to find a single complex Lagrangian submanifold, biholomorphic to a complex torus. The conjecture was proven in [GLR1] for non-projective X. For projective X the result is weaker.

We will return to this point in Lecture 5.

1.2.3. Hyperkähler vs holomorphic symplectic quotient. Let (X, ω) be a symplectic manifold with hamiltonian action of the Lie group G such that the moment map $\mu: X \longrightarrow \mathfrak{g}^*$ is equivariant. Then, for ζ a regular value $\zeta \in \mathfrak{z} \subset \mathfrak{g}^*$, where \mathfrak{z} denotes the space of G-invariants, the quotient $\mu^{-1}(\zeta)/G$ has a unique symplectic form $\tilde{\omega}$, which pulls back to $\omega_{|_{u^{-1}(\zeta)}}$. This

$$(X, \omega, \mu) \longrightarrow (\tilde{X}, \tilde{\omega})$$

 $\tilde{X} = \mu^{-1}(\zeta)/G = X//G$

is the usual Marsden-Weinstein symplectic quotient construction.

Suppose now X is a HK manifold with symplectic action of G, which is equivariantly hamiltonian with respect to the three symplectic forms $\omega_1, \omega_2, \omega_3$. We then have three hamiltonian maps, or equivalently a vector valued moment map

$$\mu: X \longrightarrow \mathfrak{g}^* \otimes \mathbb{R}^3.$$

The structural result is then the following theorem [HKLR]

Theorem 1.12. If $\zeta \in \mathfrak{z} \otimes \mathbb{R}^3 \subset \mathfrak{g}^* \otimes \mathbb{R}^3$ is a regular value of the HK moment map μ then

(2)
$$M(\zeta_1, \zeta_2, \zeta_3) = X//G := \mu^{-1}(\zeta)/G = (\mu_1^{-1}(\zeta_1) \cap \mu_2^{-1}(\zeta_2) \cap \mu_3^{-1}(\zeta_3))/G$$
, where $\zeta = \zeta_1 \otimes e_1 + \zeta_2 \otimes e_2 + \zeta_3 \otimes e_3$ is a HK manifold.

The analogous result in the Kähler case states that if the hamiltonian action of G preserves also the metric and thus the complex structure, then X//G is Kähler and its complex structure is identified with the holomorphic quotient $X^s/G_{\mathbb{C}}$, where $G_{\mathbb{C}}$ is the complexification of G with a holomorphic action extending that of G and X^s is the set of stable points, ie those whose $G_{\mathbb{C}}$ orbit intersects $\mu^{-1}(\zeta)$.

In the HK case, since the symplectic forms define the metric, a three-hamiltonian action is necessarily isometric also and preserves the three complex structures. Let

us concentrate on the holomorphic structure defined by I and let

$$\mu_{\mathbb{C}} = \mu_2 + i\mu_3 : X \longrightarrow \mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C}} = \mathfrak{g} \otimes \mathbb{C} .$$

From the proof of proposition 1.3 we obtain that

$$Y(\mu_{\mathbb{C}}(\xi)) = 0 , \forall Y \in \Gamma(T_I^{(0,1)}X)$$

and therefore $\mu_{\mathbb{C}}$ is holomorphic. It is in fact the moment map of the $\omega_{\mathbb{C}} = \omega_2 + i\omega_3$ -hamiltonian action of $G_{\mathbb{C}}$. Then, we see that

$$\mu^{-1}(\zeta) = \mu_1^{-1}(\zeta_1) \cap \mu_2^{-1}(\zeta_2) \cap \mu_3^{-1}(\zeta_3) = \mu_1^{-1}(\zeta) \cap \mu_{\mathbb{C}}^{-1}(\tilde{\zeta}),$$

where $\tilde{\zeta} = \zeta_2 + i\zeta_3 \in \mathfrak{z} \otimes \mathbb{C}$, and therefore, by taking appropriately care of stability, the complex structure on the HK quotient (2) is given by applying the holomorphic symplectic quotient construction to X,

$$(\mu_{\mathbb{C}}^s)^{-1}(\tilde{\zeta})/G_{\mathbb{C}},$$

or equivalently

$$M(\zeta_1, \zeta_2, \zeta_3) = X / / / G = X^s / / G_{\mathbb{C}} = (\mu_{\mathbb{C}}^s)^{-1} (\tilde{\zeta}) / G_{\mathbb{C}}.$$

The holomorphic symplectic description gives an efficient way of obtaining interesting HK manifolds. As Proudfoot puts it [Pr3]:

Let $H = G_{\mathbb{C}}$ be a reductive algebraic group acting on a smooth variety V. The cotangent bundle T^*V admits a canonical holomorphic symplectic structure, and the induced action of H on T^*V is hamiltonian, that is, it admits a natural equivariant moment map $\mu: T^*V \longrightarrow \mathfrak{h} = \mathfrak{g} \otimes \mathbb{C}$. Over the past ten years, a guiding principle has emerged that says that if M is an interesting variety which may be naturally presented as a GIT (geometric invariant theory) quotient of V by H, then the [holomorphic] symplectic quotient $\mu^{-1}(\zeta)/H$ of T^*V by H is also interesting. This mantra has been particularly fruitful on the level of cohomology, as we describe below. Over the complex numbers, a GIT quotient may often be interpreted as a Kähler quotient by the compact form [G] of H, and an algebraic quotient as a hyperkähler quotient.

Most known interesting examples of HK manifolds are in fact constructed in this way with V a complex (finite or infinite-dimensional) complex vector (or affine) space with a linear (or affine) Hamiltonian action of G. Then the action of $G_{\mathbb{C}}$ on T^*V is $h(v,w) = (hv,(h^*)^{-1}w)$, which reduces to $h(v,w) = (hv,h^{-1}w)$ if G is abelian as is the case of hypertoric varieties, which will be studied in Lecture 2.

In the non-abelian case the standard finite dimensional examples are given by quivers so that V_Q/H_Q is the moduli space of representations of a quiver Q and $T^*V_Q//H_Q$ is the HK moduli space of representations of the Nakajima double quiver associated with Q. Examples are the hyperpolygon spaces, corresponding to star-shaped quivers and also to moduli spaces of Higgs bundles on a punctured sphere [GM], $\mathcal{M}(U(n), \mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{C}) \setminus \{p_1, \ldots, p_r\})$. The moduli spaces of Higgs bundles $\mathcal{M}(G, C)$ in general can be described by a HK reduction of a infinite dimensional

space of pairs $(A, \phi) \in T^*A$, where A is a connection on a complex vector bundle E on C and $\phi \in \Gamma(End(E) \otimes K_C)$. The Hitchin equations correspond to the simultaneous vanishing of all three moment maps [Go].

1.2.4. Cotangent bundles of Kähler manifolds. The standard references here are [Fe1, Fe2].

Let V be a Kähler manifold. On T^*V there is a canonical holomorphic symplectic structure for which the fibers of $T^*V \longrightarrow V$ and the zero section are holomorphic Lagrangian. Feix then proves.

Theorem 1.13 (Feix). Let V be a real-analytic Kähler manifold. Then, there exists a HK metric in a neighbourhood of the zero section of the cotangent bundle T^*V , which is compatible with the canonical holomorphic symplectic structure.

She also proves no-go global theorems, like:

Proposition 1.14. There is no complete HK metric in the cotangent bundle of a Riemann surface of genus > 1.

Proposition 1.15. If V is a compact complex surface admitting a complete HK metric on its cotangent bundle then there exists a finite cover \hat{V} of V with abelian fundamental group.

Proposition 1.16. If V is a compact complex manifold of dimension n admitting a complete HK metric on its cotangent bundle then $b_1(X) \le 4n - 2$.

Notice that Proposition 1.14 is a simple consequence of Proposition 1.16. Feix also describes the very nice construction by Stenzel of a complete Ricci-flat Kähler metric on T^*S^n by giving its Kähler potential (p. 71).

2. Lecture: Hypertoric varieties - RSD

Background reading: Toric manifolds [Ca3, Gu, Ab]

2.1. **Preliminaries.** Recall that a toric Kähler manifolds is a Kähler manifold with a Hamiltonian action of a torus with maximal dimension. Hypertoric manifolds are the Hyperkähler analogue of this. We start with a definition.

Definition 2.1. A hypertoric manifold is a hyperkähler manifold (X, g, J_1, J_2, J_3) of dimension 4n admitting an effective tri-hamiltonian \mathbb{T}^n action.

The fundamental building block of hypertoric manifolds is the following fundamental example.

Example 2.2. Let G be a subgroup of $U(d) = \operatorname{GL}(d,\mathbb{C}) \cap \operatorname{Sp}(2d,\mathbb{R})$ and denote its Lie algebra by \mathcal{G} . The group G acts on \mathbb{C}^d Hamiltonianally. Let $\mu: \mathbb{C}^d \to \mathcal{G}^*$ be the moment map of the action. It is a standard fact in symplectic geometry that for "good" values of λ the manifold

$$\mathbb{C}^d//G = \mu^{-1}(\lambda)/G$$

is a symplectic manifold. In fact in "good" cases we have

$$X_{G,\lambda} = \mathbb{C}^d / / G = \mathbb{C}_s^d / G^{\mathbb{C}}$$

where \mathbb{C}_s^d is the set of stable points \mathbb{C}^d with respect to the G action and $\mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}}$ is the complexification of G. This is a deep and interesting fact but we will not say more about it.

The group G also acts on $T^*\mathbb{C}^d = \mathbb{C}^d \oplus \mathbb{C}^d$ by the formula

$$g \cdot (z, w) = (gz, (g^T)^{-1}w), g \in G, (z, w) \in \mathbb{C}^d \oplus \mathbb{C}^d$$

Now $\mathbb{C}^d \oplus \mathbb{C}^d$ is in fact hyperkähler with hyperkähler forms given by

$$\omega_{\mathbb{R}} = \frac{i}{2} \sum_{k} dz_k \wedge d\bar{z}_k + \frac{i}{2} dw_k \wedge d\bar{w}_k$$

and

$$\omega_{\mathbb{C}} = \sum_{k} dz_k \wedge dw_k.$$

Suppose the G action preserves the hyperkähler structure. It is tri-Hamiltonian and its moment maps are given by

$$\mu_{\mathbb{R}}(z, w) = \mu(z) - \mu(w),$$

and

$$\mu_{\mathbb{C}}(z,w)(v) = w(\hat{v}_z), v \in \mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}}$$

where \hat{v}_z is the tangent vector induced by v on $T_z\mathbb{C}^d$. We can form the hyperkähler quotient and define the hyperkähler manifold

$$\mathcal{M}_{G,\lambda^{\mathbb{R}},\lambda^{\mathbb{C}}} = T^*\mathbb{C}^d / / / G = (\mu_{\mathbb{R}}^{-1}(\lambda^{\mathbb{R}}) \cap \mu_{\mathbb{C}}^{-1}(\lambda^{\mathbb{C}})) / G$$

There is a relation between the symplectic quotient and the hyperkähler quotient in this setting. Namely we have the following proposition

Proposition 2.3. If λ is a regular value for μ and $(\lambda, 0)$ is a regular value for $(\mu_{\mathbb{R}}, \mu_{\mathbb{C}})$ the manifold $T^*X_{G,\lambda}$ is contained as an open dense set of $\mathcal{M}_{G,\lambda,0}$ whenver it is non empty.

Proof. This is just a stetchy sketch. We have that $X_G = \mathbb{C}^d_s/G^{\mathbb{C}}$ and therefore

$$T^*X_G = \{(z, w) : z \in \mathbb{C}^d_s, w(\hat{v}_z) = 0, \forall v \in \mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}}\}/G^{\mathbb{C}},$$

i.e.

$$T^*X_G = ((\mathbb{C}_s^d \oplus \mathbb{C}^d) \cap \mu_{\mathbb{C}}^{-1}(0))/G^{\mathbb{C}}.$$

Now points in $(\mathbb{C}_s^d \oplus \mathbb{C}^d) \cap \mu_{\mathbb{C}}^{-1}(0)$ are actually stable for the G action on $T^*\mathbb{C}^d$ and thus $(\mathbb{C}_s^d \oplus \mathbb{C}^d) \cap \mu_{\mathbb{C}}^{-1}(0) \subset (\mu_{\mathbb{C}}^{-1}(0))_s$.

2.2. Construction of hypertoric manifolds. The construction we give here is due to Bielawski and Dancer and mimics the construction of toric manifolds as quotients of \mathbb{C}^d by subtori of \mathbb{T}^d . We will assume some familiarity with the toric version of the construction. For more details see [Gu]. Let \mathcal{U} be a set of d vectors $u_1, \dots u_d$ in \mathbb{R}^n .

$$\mathcal{U} = \{u_1, \cdots u_d\}.$$

Define the map $\beta: \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^n$ by $\beta(e_i) = u_i$ and assume there is a subtorus N of \mathbb{T}^d whose lie algebra is the kernel of β . Let β^* be the dual of β , let $\iota: \ker(\beta) \to \mathbb{R}^d$ be the inclusion map and ι^* be its dual. The torus \mathbb{T}^d acts Hamiltonially on \mathbb{C}^d with moment map

$$\phi(z) = \sum_{k} |z_k|^2 e_k.$$

where we have identified \mathbb{R}^d with its dual. We can restrict the \mathbb{T}^d action to N. The resulting action will be Hamiltonian as well with moment map $\iota^* \circ \phi$. Set $\mu = \iota^* \circ \phi$. We denote

$$X_{\mathcal{U},\lambda} = \mathbb{C}^d / / N = \mu^{-1}(\lambda) / N$$

to be the symplectic quotient of \mathbb{C}^d by N. This admits a Hamiltonian $\mathbb{T}^d/N \simeq \mathbb{T}^n$ action where $n = d - \dim N$. When λ is a regular value for μ , we have

$$\dim(X_{\mathcal{U},\lambda}) = 2d - 2\dim N$$

so when $X_{\mathcal{U},\lambda}$ is a manifold it is toric. This will be the case if we take \mathcal{U} to be the set of normals to a so called Delzant polytope.

If fact we can carry out this construction in the hyperkähler setting. The torus \mathbb{T}^d acts on $T^*\mathbb{C}^d = \mathbb{C}^d \oplus \mathbb{C}^d$ as in the fundamental example of the previous section. The action is tri-Hamiltonian with respect to the symplectic forms on $T^*\mathbb{C}^d$. The moment maps are

$$\phi_{\mathbb{R}}(z, w) = \sum_{k} (|z_k|^2 - |w_k|^2) e_k,$$

and

$$\phi_{\mathbb{C}}(z,w) = \sum_{k} z_k w_k e_k.$$

The action restricts to N and the restricted action is again tri-Hamiltonian with moment maps $\mu_{\mathbb{R}} = \iota^* \circ \phi_{\mathbb{R}}$ and $\mu_{\mathbb{C}} = \iota^* \circ \phi_{\mathbb{C}}$. Let $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{U},\lambda^{\mathbb{R}},\lambda^{\mathbb{C}}}$ denote the hyperkähler quotient of $T^*\mathbb{C}^d$ by this action i.e.

$$\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{U},(\lambda^{\mathbb{R}},\lambda^{\mathbb{C}})} = T^*\mathbb{C}^d / / N.$$

This manifold admits a Hamiltonian action of $\mathbb{T}^d/N \simeq \mathbb{T}^n$ and its dimension is 4n hence this is a hypertoric manifold when it is smooth. Again we will need some conditions on \mathcal{U} to ensure smoothness or at least some reasonable behaviour.

2.3. **Hyperplane arrangements.** Given a set \mathcal{U} and a pair $(\lambda^{\mathbb{R}}, \lambda^{\mathbb{C}})$, we denote by

$$H_k^{\mathbb{R}} = \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^n : x \cdot u_k = \lambda^{\mathbb{R}} \}$$

and

$$H_k^{\mathbb{C}} = \{ x \in \mathbb{C}^n : x \cdot u_k = \lambda^{\mathbb{C}} \}.$$

We also set $H_k = H_k^{\mathbb{R}} \times H_k^{\mathbb{C}} \subset \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{C}^n \simeq \mathbb{R}^{3n}$.

Proposition 2.4. Let $\psi = (\psi_{\mathbb{R}}, \psi_{\mathbb{C}})$ denote the moment map for the \mathbb{T}^n action on $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{U},\lambda}$ with respect to $\omega_{\mathbb{R}}$ and $\omega_{\mathbb{C}}$. Then ψ is surjective and given p in $\psi^{-1}(a,b)$ the Lie algebra of the stabilizer of p is spanned by $\{u_k : (a,b) \in H_k\}$

Proof. Again this is sketchy. We will make use of the maps $\mu = \iota^* \circ \phi$, $\mu_{\mathbb{R}} = \iota^* \circ \phi_{\mathbb{R}}$ and $\mu_{\mathbb{C}} = \iota^* \circ \phi_{\mathbb{C}}$. As in the toric case we have $\beta^* \circ \psi \circ \pi = \phi \circ \text{inc}$ where

- inc is the inclusion map from $Z = \mu_{\mathbb{R}}^{-1}(\lambda^{\mathbb{R}}) \cap \mu_{\mathbb{C}}^{-1}(\lambda^{\mathbb{C}})$ in $T^*\mathbb{C}^d$ and
- $\pi: Z \to Z/N$ is the projection.

This translates into the following relations:

$$\langle \psi_{\mathbb{R}}[z, w], u_k \rangle = |z_k|^2 - |w_k|^2$$

and

$$\langle \psi_{\mathbb{C}}[z,w], u_k \rangle = z_k w_k.$$

where $[z, w] = \pi(z, w)$. Given (a, b) in $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{C}^n$ there is (z, w) such that

$$\langle a, u_k \rangle + \lambda_k^{\mathbb{R}} = |z_k|^2 - |w_k|^2$$

and

$$\langle b, u_k \rangle + \lambda_k^{\mathbb{C}} = z_k w_k.$$

This is the crucial point about this construction of hypertoric manifolds. It is a simple consequence of the fact that the triple moment map $(\phi_{\mathbb{R}}, \phi_{\mathbb{C}})$ itself is surjective. What remains to be seen is that (z, w) is in $\mu_{\mathbb{R}}^{-1}(\lambda^{\mathbb{R}}) \cap \mu_{\mathbb{C}}^{-1}(\lambda^{\mathbb{C}})$. This is just as in toric case.

$$(\phi_{\mathbb{R}}, \phi_{\mathbb{C}})(z, w) = \left(\sum_{k} (|z_k|^2 - |w_k|^2)e_k, \sum_{k} z_k w_k e_k\right)$$

i.e.

$$(\phi_{\mathbb{R}}, \phi_{\mathbb{C}})(z, w) = \left(\sum_{k} \langle a, u_k \rangle e_k, \sum_{k} \langle b, u_k \rangle e_k\right) + \left(\sum_{k} \lambda_k^{\mathbb{R}} e_k, \sum_{k} \lambda_k^{\mathbb{C}} e_k\right),$$

which gives

$$(\phi_{\mathbb{R}}, \phi_{\mathbb{C}})(z, w) = (\beta^*(a), \beta^*(b)) + \left(\sum_k \lambda_k^{\mathbb{R}} e_k, \sum_k \lambda_k^{\mathbb{C}} e_k\right),$$

thus

$$(\mu_{\mathbb{R}}(z,w),\mu_{\mathbb{C}}(z,w)) = \iota^* \circ \phi(z,w) = (\iota^* \circ \beta^*(a),\iota^* \circ \beta^*(b)) + (\lambda^{\mathbb{R}},\lambda^{\mathbb{C}}).$$

Because $\beta \circ \iota = 0$ this shows that

$$(\mu_{\mathbb{R}}(z,w),\mu_{\mathbb{C}}(z,w)) = (\lambda^{\mathbb{R}},\lambda^{\mathbb{C}}),$$

and the result follows.

As for the second statement notice that $(z_k, w_k) = 0$ if and only if $\langle \psi_{\mathbb{R}}[z, w], u_k \rangle - \lambda^{\mathbb{R}} = 0$ and if $\langle \psi_{\mathbb{C}}[z, w], u_k \rangle - \lambda^{\mathbb{C}} = 0$ (here we denote i.e. if and only if $\psi[z, w]$ is in H_k . Now

$$\operatorname{Stab}[z, w] = \operatorname{Stab}_{\mathbb{T}^d}(z, w) / \operatorname{Stab}_N(z, w).$$

Because the Lie algebra of $\operatorname{Stab}_{\mathbb{T}^d}(z,w)$ is $\operatorname{span}\{e_i:z_i=w_i=0\}$ the result follows.

From this proposition we see that hyperplane arrangements play the part of the moment polytope. We would like to list a couple of important properties of the above construction without proof. Assume the vectors $u_1, \dots u_d$ are primitive and that they generate \mathbb{R}^n .

- The manifold $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{U},\lambda}$ is an orbifold if and only if every intersection of n+1 hyperplanes H_k is empty.
- The manifold $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{U},\lambda}$ is smooth if it is an orbifold and in addition every non empty intersection of n hyperplanes H_k corresponds to normal vectors that generate \mathbb{Z}^n i.e. if $\int_I H_i \neq$ and I has n elements then $\{u_i, i \in I\}$ is a basis of \mathbb{Z}^n .
- Every hypertoric manifold is equivariantly diffeomorphic to one of the $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{U},\lambda}$ constructed above. This result is due to Bielawski (see [Bi2]). In fact Bielawski proves more, a complete metric on the hypertoric manifold is Taub-NUT deformation equivalent to the standard metric coming from the flat metric on $T^*\mathbb{C}^d$ and descending to $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{U},\lambda}$. See [Bi2] for a definition of Taub-NUT deformation equivalence.

3. Lecture: Hypertoric manifolds from Polytopes - RSD

Assume that \mathcal{U} is the set of normals of a compact rational simple polytope P. We can then construct $X_{P,\lambda}$ the toric orbifold associated to P and a choice of λ as well as $\mathcal{M}_{P,\lambda}$.

Proposition 3.1. T^*X_P is a open and dense in \mathcal{M}_P and the two are equal if and only if X_P is a product of projective spaces.

Proof. Sketchy sktetch again. We have seen the first part of the claim before (see 2.3). Note that in this setting it known that $\mathbb{C}_s^d = \mathbb{C}_P^d$ where

$$\mathbb{C}_P^d = \cup_F \mathbb{C}_F^d,$$

where the union is taken among all faces F of P and

$$\mathbb{C}_F^d = \{ z \in \mathbb{C}^d : z_k = 0, u_k \perp F \}.$$

From what we saw in the proof of proposition 2.3, $\mathbb{C}_P^d \times \mathbb{C}^d \mu_{\mathbb{C}}^{-1}(0) \subset (\mu_{\mathbb{C}}^{-1}(0))_s$ and the inclusion is open and dense.

Next we state the following fact

Lemma 3.2. X_P is a product of projective spaces if and only if every subset of n facets of P which intersect do so at a vertex of P.

We will not show this in general (see [BD] for more details) but this actually easy to understand in dimension 2. In fact 2 dimensional rational simple polytopes are obtained from chopping right angle triangles or rectangles (this is equivalent to saying that compact toric surfaces with orbifold singularities are blow ups of \mathbb{CP}^2 of of $\mathbb{CP}^1 \times \mathbb{CP}^1$). If the polytope actually has a chopping then two of its facets will meet outside the polytope so the only 2 dimensional polytopes that meet the condition of the lemma are (right angle) triangles and rectangles hence we need X_P to be \mathbb{CP}^2 of of $\mathbb{CP}^1 \times \mathbb{CP}^1$.

It is actually easy to see that if P does not satisfy the property in lemma 3.2 then \mathcal{M}_P cannot equal T^*X_P . In fact the fixed points under the torus action in T^*X_P correspond to fixed points of the torus action in X_P hence to vertices in P. As for the fixed points of \mathcal{M}_P these correspond to intersections of n facets of P (for which the stabilizers have dimension n). If there are intersections of n facets which are not vertices, \mathcal{M}_P will have more fixed points than T^*X_P .

Assume now that the P satisfies the property in the lemma 3.2. We will also assume that $0 \in P$ i.e. the λ_i are positive. Let $(z, w) \in \mu_{\mathbb{C}}^{-1}(0)$ then

$$\sum_{k} |z_{k}|^{2} \iota^{*}(e_{k}) = \sum_{k} |w_{k}|^{2} \iota^{*}(e_{k}) + \lambda^{\mathbb{R}}$$

and $\mu(z) = \sum_k |z_k|^2 \iota(e_k) = \lambda'$ where is "bigger" than λ' . What we really want to say is that z is in a polytope P' that is obtained as a dilation of P and contains P as a subset. Therefore it follows that $z \in \mathbb{C}_{P'}^d$. The point here is that $\mathbb{C}_{P'}^d$ is equal to \mathbb{C}_P^d because the polytope P satisfies the property in the lemma. Hence $z \in \mathbb{C}_P^d$ and we have showed that

$$\mu_{\mathbb{C}}^{-1}(0) \subset \mathbb{C}_P^d \times \mathbb{C}^d$$
.

This finishes the proof.

3.1. The Kähler potential in moment map coordinates. The flat metric $T^*\mathbb{C}^d$ is \mathbb{T}^d invariant thus it descends to a metric on $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{U}}$ which is invariant under the $\mathbb{T}^d/N \simeq \mathbb{T}^n$ action. Because of this the metric can be expressed in terms of the coordinates on the moment map image $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{C}^n$. There is an explicit formula

for the Kähler potential of this metric in terms of these coordinates. Namely we have

Proposition 3.3. Let $\mathcal{M}_{P,\lambda}$ be a hypertoric manifold from the construction above. Denote the moment map for the \mathbb{T}^n action by $\psi = (\psi_{\mathbb{R}}, \psi_{\mathbb{C}})$. Let s_k and v_k be defined as $s_k = \langle \psi_{\mathbb{R}}, u_k \rangle + \lambda_k^{\mathbb{R}}$ and $v_k = \langle \psi_{\mathbb{C}}, u_k \rangle + \lambda_k^{\mathbb{C}}$. Define also r_k by the formula $r_k^2 = s_k^2 + 4v_k\bar{v}_k$. Then

$$\omega_{\mathbb{R}} = \bar{\partial}\partial(r_k + \lambda_k \log(r_k + s_k))$$

where ∂ and $\bar{\partial}$ are with respect to the complex structure J_1 .

When X_P is a product of projective spaces this should restrict to the Guillemin metric on $X_P \subset T^*X_P$. In fact taking w = 0 in the above formula $v_k = \langle \psi_{\mathbb{C}}, u_k \rangle + \lambda_k^{\mathbb{C}} = z_k w_k = 0$ for all k and therefore $r_k = s_k = l_k$. Thus the Kähler potential becomes $l_k + \lambda_k \log(l_k)$. Refs: [BD, Pr1, Pr2]

4. Lecture: Nahm equations and hyperkähler manifolds - JPN Refs: [AH, Kr2, Kr3, Hi1, Hi2, Hi3, Hi5, AB, Bi, N]

We will describe Nahm's equations, along with other interesting systems of "geometrical" PDE's, from dimensional reduction of the self-dual Yang-Mills equations. We will describe the corresponding HK moduli spaces of solutions. In particular, the moduli space of magnetic monopoles can be described in 3 equivalent ways. One of them is as a moduli space of spectral curves. The other two moduli spaces are naturally connected to the first: one is the moduli space of solutions of the Bogomolny equations in three dimensions; the other, is the moduli space of solutions of Nahm's equations with particular boundary conditions. The spectral curves appear from the side of Nahm's equations in a natural way in terms of Lax pairs. On the side of the Bogomolny equations, the spectral curves have a less common origin; they appear as a subset of the space of oriented lines in 3-dimensional space, namely corresponding to lines where certain naturally defined differential operators obtained form the Bogomolny equations have L^2 solutions in the kernel.

We will also try to cover Hitchin's description of the HK Atiyah-Hitchin metric on the moduli space of monopoles in terms of the geometry of theta functions on the spectral curves, given in [Hi5].

5. Lecture: Mirror symmetry for hyperkähler manifolds - JM Refs: [Ve1, Hu, GHJ, GLR1, GLR2, Ve2, Ve2]

6. Lecture: Gukov-Witten quantization - JE

Refs: [GW, Wi2]

References

- [AB] M.Atiyah, R. Bielawski, "Nahm's equations, configuration spaces and flag manifolds", arXiv:math/0110112.
- [Ab] M.Abreu, "Kähler geometry of toric manifolds in symplectic coordinates", in "Symplectic and Contact Topology: Interactions and Perspectives" (eds. Y.Eliashberg, B.Khesin and F.Lalonde), Fields Institute Communications 35, Amer. Math. Soc., 2003.
- [AH] M.Atiyah, N.Hitchin, "The geometry and dynamics of magnetic monopoles", Princeton University Press, 1988.
- [Bi] R. Bielawski, Lie groups, "Nahm's equations and hyperkaehler manifolds", arXiv:math/0509515
- [BD] R. Bielawski, A. S. Dancer, "The geometry and topology of toric hyperkähler manifolds", The geometry and topology of toric hyperkhler manifolds. Comm. Anal. Geom. 8 (2000), 727–760. http://www1.maths.leeds.ac.uk/~rb/short.pdf
- [Bi2] R. Bielawski, "Complete hyper-Kler 4n-manifolds with a local tri-Hamiltonian Rn-action". Math. Ann. 314 (1999), no. 3, 505528.
- [Ca1] A.Cannas da Silva, "Symplectic geometry", overview written for the Handbook of Differential Geometry (eds. F.J.E.Dillen and L.C.A.Verstraelen), Elsevier, 2005.
 text in (December 2004): http://www.math.princeton.edu/~acannas/Papers/symplectic.pdf
- [Ca2] A.Cannas da Silva, "Lectures on Symplectic Geometry", Lecture Notes in Mathematics 1764, Springer-Verlag, 2001 and 2008. text in (January 2006): http://www.math.ist.utl.pt/~acannas/Books/lsg.pdf
- [Ca3] A.Cannas da Silva, "Symplectic toric manifolds", lecture notes for the CRM (Barcelona) short course delivered in July of 2001, Symplectic Geometry of Integrable Hamiltonian Systems, Birkhuser series Advanced Courses in Mathematics CRM Barcelona, Birkhuser (Springer), 2003

 text in (October 2001):
 http://www.math.ist.utl.pt/~acannas/Books/toric.pdf
- [Fe1] B.Feix, "Hyperkhler metrics on cotangent bundles", PhD thesis, Cambridge, 1999. Available from: http://people.maths.ox.ac.uk/hitchin/hitchinstudents/students.html
- [Fe2] B.Feix, "Hyperkhler metrics on cotangent bundles", J. Reine Angew. Math. 532 (2001), 33–46.
- [Fe3] B.Feix, "Hypercomplex manifolds and hyperholomorphic bundles", Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 133 (2002), 443–457.
- [GM] L.Godinho, A.Mandini, "Hyperpolygon spaces and moduli spaces of parabolic Higgs bundles", arXiv:1101.3241.
- [Go] P.Gothen, "Higgs bundles", slides from lectures on Higgs bundles at the International School on Geometry and Physics: moduli spaces in geometry, topology and physics of the Spanish Semester on Moduli Spaces (January-June 2008).

 available in http://cmup.fc.up.pt/cmup/pbgothen/
- [GLR1] D.Greb, C.Lehn,S.Rollenske, "Lagrangian fibrations on hyperkähler manifolds On a question of Beauville", arXiv:1105.3410.
- [GLR2] D.Greb, C.Lehn, S.Rollenske, "Lagrangian fibrations on hyperkhler manifolds: intersections of Lagrangians, L-reduction, and fourfolds", arXiv:1110.2680.
- [GHJ] M.Gross, D.Huybrechts, D.Joyce, "Calabi-Yau manifolds and related geometries", Universitext. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2003.

- [Gu] V.Guillemin, "Kähler structures on toric varieties", J. Diff. Geom. 40 (1994), 285–309.
- [GW] S.Gukov, E.Witten, "Branes and quantization", arXiv:0809.0305, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 13 (2009), 1445–1518.
- [HT] T.Hausel, M.Thaddeus, "Mirror symmetry, Langlands duality, and the Hitchin system", math/0205236.
- [Hi1] N.Hitchin, "Monopoles and geodesics", Comm. Math. Phys. 83 (1982) 579-602.
- [Hi2] N.Hitchin, "On the construction of monopoles", Comm. Math. Phys. 89 (1983) 145-190.
- [Hi3] N.Hitchin, "Monopoles, minimal surfaces and algebraic curves", Séminaire Mathématiques Superieures 105, Les Presse Univ. Montréal, 1987.
- [Hi4] N.Hitchin, "Hyperkähler manifolds", Seminaire BOURBAKI, 1991-92, n. 748.
- [Hi5] N.Hitchin, "Integrable systems in Riemannian geometry", in Surveys in Differential Geometry: Integrable Systems, International Press, 1998.
- [HKLR] N.Hitchin, A.Karlhede, U.Lindström, M.Rocek, "Hyper-Kähler metrics and supersymmetry", Comm. Math. Phys. 108 (1987), 535–589.
- [Hu] D.Huybrechts, Moduli Spaces of Hyperkähler Manifolds and Mirror Symmetry, arXiv:math/0210219.
- [Ig] K.Iga, "What do Topologists want from Seiberg-Witten theory?", arXiv:hep-th/0207271, Int.J.Mod.Phys. A17 (2002) 4463-4514.
- [KW] A.Kapustin E.Witten, "Electric-Magnetic Duality And The Geometric Langlands Program", arXiv:hep-th/0604151.
- [Kr1] P. B. Kronheimer, "The construction of ALE spaces as hyper-Kähler quotients", J. Differential Geom. 29 (1989), 665–683.
- [Kr2] P. B. Kronheimer, "hyper-Kählerian structure on coadjoint orbits of a semisimple complex group", J. London Math. Soc. (2) 42 (1990), 193–208.
- [Kr3] P. B. Kronheimer, "A hyperkahler structure on the cotangent bundle of a complex Lie group", arXiv:math/0409253.
- [N] H.Nakajima, "Monopoles and Nahm's equations", in "Einstein metrics and Yang-Mills connections", Proceedings of the 27th Taniguchi Intern. Symposium, Sanda, 1990, Lect. Notes Pure Appli. Math. 145, Marcel Dekker, 1993.
- [Pr1] N.J.Proudfoot, "Hyperkähler analogues of Kähler quotients", PhD thesis, Harvard Univ. 2000, arXiv:math/0405233.
- [Pr2] N.J.Proudfoot, "A survey of hypertoric geometry and topology. Toric topology", 323–338, Contemp. Math., 460, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2008.
- [Pr3] N.J.Proudfoot, "All the GIT quotients at once". Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 363 (2011), 168–1698.
- [Ve1] M.Verbitsky, "Mirror Symmetry for hyperkaehler manifolds", arXiv:hep-th/9512195, AMS/IP Stud. Adv. Math. 10 (1999) 115–156.
- [Ve2] M.Verbitsky, "Hyperkahler SYZ conjecture and semipositive line bundles", arXiv:0811.0639, GAFA 19 (2010) 1481–1493.
- [Wi1] E.Witten, "Mirror Symmetry, Hitchin's Equations, And Langlands Duality", arXiv:0802.0999.
- [Wi2] E.Witten, "A new look at the path integral of quantum mechanics", arXiv:1009.6032
- [Wo] N.M.J.Woodhouse, "Geometric quantization", Second Edition, Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1991.

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS & CAMGSD, INSTITUTO SUPERIOR TÉCNICO, AV. RO-VISCO PAIS, 1049-001 LISBOA, PORTUGAL